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Overview
Peak Resources has completed an 
important year having completed a 
restructure of the exploration portfolio 
and developed a focus on Tanzanian 
exploration assets.  The directors have 
worked to address structural reform 
within non field operations resulting 
in a lower overhead cost base for the 
Company and reflecting the reduced 
exposure to onshore Australian activities.

The process of restructure commenced 
with Peak’s move into Tanzania in mid 2008 
following the completing the acquisition of 
interests in Tanzania’s Lake Victoria and 
Lupa Goldfields.  Peak quickly initiated plans 
to commence work on the most advanced of 
the new projects within the portfolio as well 
as to broadening its scope of operations 
within Tanzania.  The Company considered 
different opportunities that existed within 
Tanzania additional to gold so as to 
spread market risk and capitalise upon the 
investment Peak was making through its 
presence within the country.  

Identifying an early mover advantage based 
upon productivity within the agricultural 
becoming increasingly important in Eastern 
Africa Peak Resources commenced work 
generating target areas within Tanzania that 
were considered prospective for agro-
geology minerals such as rock phosphate 
that could be applied to increase crop 
yields.  This work lead to the identification of 
a number of priority prospects, culminating 
in the Company entering an agreement to 
farm into the Ngualla Phosphate Project in 
south western Tanzania.

The Ngualla Phosphate Project was under 
application with offer of grant of licence 
being obtained in July 2009.  While awaiting 
the offer of grant work was undertaken in 
completing infield verification of historical 
data and further literature research.  This 
work reinforced the potential seen in 
the project for not only phosphates but 
additionally rare earths and base metals.    
It has also provided baseline studies on 
which to establish activity to be initiated 
upon issue of the licence. 

Images: From top. Mwakwimba 
(Lupa Project) quartz reef.  
Artisinal Miners, Lupa Project. 

While the project expansion in Tanzania 
was occurring the Company rationalised 
its Australian project portfolio to meet the 
challenging financial constraints being 
dictated to by a severe market downturn.  
As a result difficult decisions were made in 
December 2008 to commence a divestment 
programme on the Company’s interests in 
uranium and the Peak Hill gold projects and 
Doolgunna that had not provided exploration 
encouragement anticipated and carried a 
high level of expenditure obligation to simply 
hold in good standing. 

Actions taken to reduce commitments 
and concentrate on projects considered 
to provide an opportunity to advance in 
a cost effective manner have now been 
implemented.  The programme has provided 
some exciting early encouragement.  

The coming year is seen as an  
important period in determining the 
ability of the asset base to deliver the 
growth to shareholders being targeted 
by the directors.

A consequence of the asset base restructure 
and divestiture the Company has written off 
a significant amount of previously capitalised 
exploration costs that were associated 
with the Peak Hill region projects and the 
uranium tenement portfolio.  Additionally the 
Company has not capitalised much of the 
initial expenditure incurred in Tanzania but 
elected to write that off.
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Imweru Prospect (Geita West Project)

Initial reconnaissance work was undertaken 
shortly before year end.  As a result of 
the  reconnaissance work information was 
obtained highlighting the prospectivity of 
the licence area.  Limited historic data had 
been available in respect of the project 
licences detailing earlier work.  Interviews with 
artisanal miners identified that an Australian 
exploration company had undertaken a scout 
drilling programme.  Follow-up investigations 
identified the company and that it had 
undertaken first pass drilling of the licence in 
mid 2000 shortly prior to acquiring a major 
nickel mine in Western Australia towards the 
end of 2000 which became its primary focus.
 
The initial drilling demonstrated the presence 
of  high grade gold mineralisation with 
considerable upside.  High grade gold 
intercepts from the historic RAB and RC 
drilling within licence area underlined the 
potential of Peak’s land position within the 
Geita region of Tanzania.  

The drilling results demonstrated the presence 
of high grade gold mineralization with 
considerable exploration upside potential.  
Gold intercepts included: 
• 7.09g/t over 3m from 16m down hole 

including 20.09 g/t over 1m (RAB);
• 33.5 g/t gold over 1m from 34m  

down hole (RC);
• 9.39 g/t over 4m from 54m down hole 

including 31.5 g/t over 1m (RC);
• 10.1 g/t over 1m in a zone averaging 7.91 

g/t over 5 m from 52m down hole (RAB).
 
Additionally, extensive artisanal workings were 
observed during recent work.  Workings have 
exposed numerous auriferous quartz veins.  
The discovery elevated the prospect in priority 
with the Company looking to accelerate 
exploration on this project as its main priority 
within the region.

Gold mining has been active in Tanzania 
for more than a century with Tanzania 
becoming Africa’s third largest gold 
producer after South Africa and Ghana.  
The country currently produces in 
excess of 1.12 Mozs of Au per annum 
from five large mines.  Peak Resources 
was attracted to Tanzania as the country 
remains under-explored in comparison 
with other gold producing provinces of its 
size and potential.  

Tanzania’s Lake Victoria Goldfield is a world-
class gold province that currently boasts 
in excess of 50 million ounces of Gold in 
Proven and Probable Reserve categories 
among five modern operations (namely, 
Geita, Bulyanhulu, North Mara, Golden 
Pride and Tulawaka) and five potential 
development projects.

Following completion of works on the 
Lupa Goldfield Project (refer below) the 
Company is focusing future gold exploration 
on opportunities within the Lake Victoria 
Goldfield region.  The decision to apply a 
greater focus to this region is a result of 
the prospectivity of the Company’s areas 
of interest within this region together with 
the access to exploration support and 
infrastructure which reduces the cost and 
time required to implement field exploration.
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Geita West Gold Project  
(Peak Resources earning 75%)

Peak has obtained the rights to earn 
interests in certain tenements in respect of 
which grant has been offered or that are 
subject to applications which are understood 
to be under priority application within the 
Geita Greenstone Belt.  

The Geita project comprises a large 
ground holding of approximately 219 sq 
km within an Achaean Greenstone Belt 
that hosts the world class Geita Gold Mine 
(AnglogoldAshanti).  The Geita Mine (which 
is located approximately 25 kilometres 
east of the Peak tenements) has a total 
size of 23.8 Moz @ 3.3 g/t Au (production 
plus identified reserves & resources) 
producing 3.3 M oz Au since modern mining 
commenced in 2000.  

Peak’s joint venture tenements straddle 
a prospective part of the belt were the 
tenements abuts Proterozoic sediments 
on the western side of the project that is 
dissected by major regional structures.  
The tenements have mapped similar 
lithologies to the Geita including volcanics 
& banded iron formations.  The area 
appears to be significantly underexplored 
with limited previous exploration having 
been undertaken, though evidence of 
mineralisation (artisanal workings) exists 
within some of the tenements.

While three of the licence applications were 
not successful during the year the Company 
reached agreement to add additional licence 
applications on ground adjacent to or 
directly abutting licences and applications 
in which Peak already held an interest.  This 
ground increased the coverage within the 
region.  Peak is looking to further enhance 
its existing position with additional licences 
and is seeking agreements with holders of 
licences in areas surrounding or adjacent to 
the Company’s current holdings. 

Peak deferred much of its planned activity in 
the region throughout the year as it awaited 
grant of contiguous blocks in the western 
part of the project area.  This has started to 
turn around following progress being made 
on the Imweru licence area.

OPERATIONS  
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Igunga Gold Project
The Igunga Project is located approximately 
80km ESE of the 3.2 Moz Golden Pride Mine 
(Resolute Mining Limited ASX:RSG).  The 
project comprises prospective Achaean 
Greenstones and Banded Iron Formations 
(BIF) that has little systematic exploration 
completed to date.  Previous exploration 
conducted over the area has shown the 
potential for the project to host two separate 
styles of mineralisation, namely shear hosted 
quartz veining and BIF hosted gold.

Soil geochemistry conducted by previous 
explorers have highlighted anomalous gold 
in soil and identified outcropping pyritic 
(sulphide) BIF sequences (repeated) that 
sub-crop over a strike length greater than 1 
kilometres before being masked by recent 
cover within the Igunga Tenements.  

During the financial year the Company 
undertook two work programmes over the 
project.  The first a soil sampling programme 
carried out in September 2008 followed by 
a trenching and geochemical programme in 
March 2009.

Peak completed initial soil sampling based 
on an approximated grid of 25m x 100 m 
over the project area was undertaken in the 
December Quarter.  This highlighting a soil 
anomalism (peak of 164ppb Au) coincident 
with sub cropping BIF and altered quartz vein 
felsic volcanic.  This was followed up in April 
when a second programme of soil sampling 
was undertaken in addition to a trenching 
programme within the area of soil anomalism 
highlighted in the December Quarter.

Trenching at Igunga was completed within a 
gold in soil anomalous zone.  The trenching 
has encounter low level gold anomalism 
associated with banded iron formation and 
the altered felsic volcanic.  Broad spaced 
offset soil sampling (300m x 300m) with 
reconnaissance geological mapping has 
been completed within two other tenements 
in the Igunga area.  This has resulted in the 
partial delineation of  a gold anomaly which 
will requires further work.  on the outlined 
+1,000m x 300m zone with gold in soil value 
of +100 ppb gold against a background of 
25ppb.
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The Company is planning a drill programme 
on the area of gold in soil anomalism to be 
carried out in the December Quarter 2009.

North Mara & Ikoma Gold Projects
The North Mara & Ikoma Projects comprise 
220 km2 of prospective greenstones located 
in the north of Tanzanian within the LVGF 
and within proximity to the large North Mara 
Gold Mine (5.7 Moz Au) that is operated by 
Barrick Gold.

Though the projects have evidence of 
historical mining activities located within and 
proximal to the tenements, little exploration 
has been done to date.  The projects are 
located within mapped greenstones that 
have favourable structural settings.

Above: Peak Resources Directors, Rodney 
Foster and Alastair Hunter, with Project 
Geologist, Edson Kayogoma, examine 
artisanal workings at Imweru (July ‘09)

Above: Project Location Map



Lupa Gold Project
The Lupa Gold Project is located in Southern 
Tanzania and approximately 50 km northeast 
of the regional centre of Mbeya.  Lupa is 
the second largest goldfield in Tanzania 
after the Lake Victoria Goldfields.  Peak’s 
Lupa project comprises 8 tenements and 
applications covering approximately 90 
km2.  Within the JV area, limited historical 
exploration and mining has been carried 
out over the past 20 years.  Completed 
exploration to date by Peak has identified 
within the project includes several small 
open cuts, operated by an Italian company 
based on sampling of veins at surface.  
Mining appears to have been undertaken 
with little grade control and no drilling.  

In the first phase of exploration Peak 
undertook geological mapping, 100m x 25m 
soil sampling, rockchip sampling and minor 
trenching at Lupa in August 2008.  The 
programme was designed to validate, refine 
and develop targets for drilling.  Results 
from soil sampling provided confidence to 
further advance its exploration programme 
at Lupa.  Soil sampling delivered significant 
encouragement as a result of numerous high 
tenor gold in soil anomalies being identified.

Trench 4 (TRN004) intercepted a moderately 
dipping shear zone over a true thickness of 
approximately 5 metres that is marked by 
a 1.5 metres wide quartz veined footwall.  
The shear is strongly altered, with quartz 
stringers and iron oxide alteration (goethite 
and haematite) being prevalent.  Minor pyrite 
was also observed within quartz veining.  

While results indicated the existence of 
strong mineralisation within the trenches 
with numerous high assay results from rock 
chip sampling of quartz veins in excess 
of 10 g/t gold and channel sample results 
returning up to 5m @ 3.46 g/t gold widths of 
mineralisation were not supportive of broad 
zones on mineralised material required to 
support an economic resource. 

Peak had been targeting broad zones of 
mineralisation capable of providing a gold 
resource of circa 250,000 oz of gold at plus 
2.7 g/t.  Having considered the results of 
both soil and trenching work the Company 
concluded that the mineralisation identified 
is tightly confined mineralisation (with a 
lack of continuity between trenches) that is 
structurally controlled and unlikely to provide 
the size and nature of mineralisation that the 
Company is seeking

The Company has carefully considered 
the results from trenching and reviewed 
technical issues associated with the 
sampling methodology adopted.  Given 
Peak’s interpretation of the nature of 
mineralisation within the licences and costs 
associated with operating in this region 
compared to the Lake Victoria Goldfield, 
Peak has decided to focus its exploration 
programmes on the Lake Victoria Goldfield 
region in preference to Lupa.

OPERATIONS  
REVIEW  
2009

Tanzanian  
Gold Projects

The first is cohesive at 50ppb gold, 
contoured 700m x 200m with a maximum 
gold in soil value of 1,412ppb gold (1.41g/t).  
The northeast portion of this soil anomaly 
extends for 300m at +500ppb gold (0.50g/t).  
This anomaly is closely associated with a 
northeast trending structure.  The second 
extended for 400m x 100m at 50ppb gold 
(open to the southeast) with a maximum 
gold in soil result of 1,635ppb gold (1.63g/
t).  This second anomaly correlates well 
with observed structural orientations in the 
region, where the interplay of the dominant 
northwest and the secondary northeast & 
north trending structures are potentially 
creating a favourable zone allowing for 
mineralised fluid to flow from the corridor 
(NW trend) through the area and precipitate 
gold.

A trenching programme was then planned 
and undertaken in February 2009 that ran 
traverses across the soil anomalies for a 
total of approximately 2,100 metres.  In 
association with the work further detailed 
mapping was to be undertaken but later 
abandoned due to difficulties experienced 
with ground vegetation cover.
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574 200mE 574 800mE

9 067 800mN

9 067 400mN

LUPA GOLD PROJECT- TANZANIA
SOUTHERN GOLD ANOMALY
SURFACE GEOLOGY AND SOIL RESULTS

q

q

q

d

q

q

q
q

q
q

q

q

q

q

q

q

d

d

d

d
d

d
d

?

q
qq

q

q

qq

q

q

q

q
q

q

?
Alteration Package
Cataclasites (brecciated, chloritised,
silici�ed, sericitised and epidotised
�ne grained diorite

Diorites (unfoliated)

Quartz vein, reef

Shear zone

Drainage

Track

Dolerite intrusionsd
q

Strike and dip
of bedding +300

+500

+50

+100

ppb Au in soils

Rockchip sample
with grade (g/t Au)

14.15

9.85

65.03
3.09

q Artisanal workings
(gold)

100m0

qq

q
q

q
q q

q
q

q
q

q

q

q q

�� Peak Resources Limited
2009 Annual Report



Ngualla Phosphate Project  
(Peak Resources earning 80%)

During the year the Company  
secured the right to earn an interest  
in the Ngualla Phosphate Project in  
south western Tanzania within a licence 
applied for by Zari Exploration Limited.  

The Ngualla Project is located approximately 
150km northwest of the city of Mbeya in the 
southwest of Tanzania.  The Project is centred 
on a carbonitite system which is a plug like 
intrusive system having various successive 
phases.  The Carbonitite was identified in 
the early 1980’s by work undertaken as part 
of a agrogeology project with a Canadian 
university based non government organisation 
(NGO). 
 
During the December Quarter 2008, Peak 
completed a reconnaissance programme 
and review to verify historic data.  This work 
added further weight to earlier data identifying 
extensions to the mapped footprint of the 
carbonatite.  It was also noted that ad hoc 
small scale extraction of what appeared to be 
phosphate like material from within the Project 
area was being undertaken by local villagers 
for application to cultivated fields.  
 

Literary reviews have identified the extent 
of phosphate occurring in residual soils 
with work completed by NGO geologists 
including:
• Four exploration pits being dug over 

an area of approximately 3km x 1km 
returning up to 20% P2O5,  
including 1m @ 19.2%, 2.25m @ 16.3%, 
3m @ 13.45% and 1m @ 13.8% P2O5 in 
channel sampling;

• The existence of a late phase 15-20 
metre wide magnetite-apatite vein that 
extends over several hundred metres; 
and

• Two separate discoveries of phosphate 
minerals, with the primary phosphate 
rich zone centred on possible apatite 
rich carbonatites and fenites which 
had been identified in dyke like zones 
with higher magnetic and radiometric 
signatures.

Right and below:  
Extensive outcropping of phosphate 
mineralisation at Ngualla 

TANzANIA  
OPERATIONS  
PhOSPhATE  
PROjEcT

Additionally, historic data has also 
highlighted the potential of the project are 
to host base metal and REE mineralisation.  
This potential will be investigated during 
initial field programmes.

The licence over the Ngualla Project area 
was issued by the Minister for Energy 
and Minerals in late September 2009 
enabling field work orientated exploration to 
commence.

Phosphate Material

Phosphate Material

Phosphate Material
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Menzies Gold Project
The Menzies Project covers ground from 5km 
east to 17km north of the township of Menzies 
and covers a total 101km² in area.  Open pit 
mining ceased from the Menzies project in 
2000 having produced over 60,000 oz of gold 
from two shallow pits.  Since listing, Peak has 
initiated a number of programmes directed at 
outlining shallow higher grade mineralisation.  
Thus far the mineralisation intersected to date 
does not contain enough ounces or tonnes 
to warrant mining.  Evaluation of existing 
prospects and delineation of new ones has 
been ongoing.

In September 2009 an agreement was 
entered into with Blue Star under which Blue 
Star may initially earn a 51% interest in the 
project licences by expending $400,000 
on exploration with a minimum spend 
requirement of $75,000 prior to withdrawal.  
Blue Star may then elect to earn a further 24% 
interest by expending a further $600,000 on 
exploration on the project tenements.

 

Mark Maine
Executive Chairman

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results 
is based on information compiled and/or reviewed by Rodney 
Foster who is a Member of The Australasian Institute of Mining 
and Metallurgy. Rodney Foster is Director of the Company. 
He has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of 
mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to 
the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent 
Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code 
for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore 
Reserves”.  Rodney Foster consents to the inclusion in the report 
of the matters based on his information in the form and context 
in which it appears

OPERATIONS  
REVIEW  
2009
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Ashburton Base Metals Project
Located approximately 60 kilometres 
south of the township of Paraburdoo 
in Western Australia, consisting of two 
Exploration Licences 08/1239 (Mt Vernon) 
& (08/1240) Pingandy, the Ashburton 
Project has the ideal lithologies, structural 
controls and tectonic location to host 
large tonnage base metal deposits.

The Ashburton Project was the primary 
focus in Australian for the Company during 
the 2009 financial year. The project was 
operating under a farm in agreement with 
Metminco Limited.  During the earning 
period the Project has been managed 
by Peak while being funded and directed 
by Metminco.  Work undertaken on the 
Project included an IP Survey and initial RC 
drill programme which was carried put in 
November 2008.

Exploration completed during the year built 
on the base level of knowledge obtained 
by initial work programmes carried out in 
2008 that identified extensive geochemical 
and geophysical anomalies.  Anomalous 
rock chip samples returned from the 
Project included 33.5% Copper, 59% Iron, 
6.4% Lead, 46.5 ppm Silver and 44.1% 
Manganese.

 

WESTERN 
AUSTRAlIAN  
OPERATIONS  
GOld  
PROjEcTS

Mt Vernon (E08/1239)
Exploration completed by Peak Resources 
has not decreased prospectively of the 
Project to host large tonnage metaliferous 
deposits.  In 2008 Peak undertook 
exploration including geochemical, gravity 
surveys.  This was followed this year by 
an induced polarisation surveys to outline 
areas of anomalism and an initial RC drilling 
programme.  The 2008 programme has 
provided information that was essential to 
targeting planned drilling within an area of 
5km (strike length) by 3km (width).

above - IP Chargeability Section over Gravity with lead soil 
contour and Rock Chip Sample Locations

An 11 hole RC Drilling programme was 
completed during the December Quarter 
by farm in partner, Metminco and managed 
by Peak at the Mt Vernon Prospect.  Drilling 
was designed to test underneath high level 
surface anomalism within a large (+5km 
regional structural trap).  Drilling returned 
encouraging results with broad 65m 
anomalous intersections being returned. 

While encouraging for a first pass drill 
programme an initial review by Peak has 
led us to consider that the programme was 
tightly focussed for early stage exploration.  
While noting the results support the overall 
direction of exploration and potential of 
the project to generate a large mineralised 
system. Further work is needed to better 
define drilling targets.  

Metminco approached Peak in August 2009 
to consider a change in the terms of the 
farm-in agreement.  The proposed amended 
terms were materially different to the agreed 
terms of the agreement.  These proposed 
(new) terms were not acceptable to Peak 
Resources.  In September 2009 Metminco 
advised Peak that Metminco, having 
been subject to a major structural change 
Metminco have elected to withdraw from the 
earn in agreement.

Peak is to continue with exploration within 
the Ashburton Project area having retained 
its 100% interest.
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PrOjECt tENEMENt % StAtuS ArrANGEMENt/COMMENt

Western Australian  
Operations

Menzies L 29/61 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

  ML 29/189 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

  EL29/558 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

  PL 29/2047 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

  PL 29/2048 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

  PL 29/2049 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

  PL 29/2050 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

  PL 29/2051 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

  PL 29/2052 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

  PL 29/2053 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

  PL 29/2054 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

  PL 29/2055 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

  PL 29/2056 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

  PL 29/2057 100 Granted Blue Star Resources earning up to 75%

Ashburton E08/1239 100 Granted 

  E08/1240 100 Granted 

Yellowdine ELA 77/1112  Application Option to acquire from Avko P/L

Three Rivers EL52/1663 100 Granted 

Tanzanian  
Projects   

Igunga Gold Project PL 2017/2003 5 Granted Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 70% from Zari Exploration

  PL 4078/2007 5 Granted Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 70% from Zari Exploration

  PL 4525  Offer Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 70% from Zari Exploration

  PL 4520  Offer Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 70% from Zari Exploration

  PL 4531  Offer Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 70% from Zari Exploration

  HQ-P1671  Application Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 70% from Zari Exploration

Geita West Gold Project PL 4485  Offer Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 75% from Zari Exploration

  PL 4468  Offer Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 75% from Zari Exploration

  HQ-P15280  Application Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 75% from Zari Exploration

  HQ-P18115  Application Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 75% from Zari Exploration

  HQ- P17782  Application Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 75% from Zari Exploration

  HQ-P17792  Application Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 75% from Zari Exploration

  HQ-P17785  Application Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 75% from Zari Exploration

North Mara PL 4555  Offer Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 70% from Zari Exploration

Ikoma PL 4534  Offer Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 70% from Zari Exploration

  PL 4527  Offer Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 70% from Zari Exploration

  3746/2005  Granted Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 70% from Zari Exploration

  4102/2007  Granted Joint Venture Pan African earning up to 70% from Zari Exploration

Ngualla 6079/2009  Granted Joint Venture Peak Resources earning up to 80% from Zari Exploration

Unless otherwise stated tenements 100% are held by or on behalf of Peak Resources Limited.

TENEmENT  
SchEdUlE 
2009 
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Your directors of Peak Resources Limited submit herein the annual financial report 
of the company for the financial year ended 30 June 2009.  In order to comply with 
the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors’ Report is as follows.

Directors
The names of the company’s directors in office during the 
year and until the date of this report are as below. Directors 
were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.

Mark Maine M.Com, B Bus (Accounting), Grad Dip (B.Law), CPA 

Executive Chairman and Company Secretary

Mr Mark Maine is the executive chairman and company secretary. 
He is an accountant, experienced executive and corporate 
adviser with over 29 years experience including 17 years 
experience in the resource industry.  Mr Maine was previously 
managing director of a corporate advisory arm of an Australian 
stockbroking firm.  He is experienced in public company 
administration, corporate regulation and finance.

During the preceding 3 years immediately before the end of the 
financial year he is/was a non executive director of Australian 
listed companies Pacrim Energy Limited, Balkans Gold Limited 
(resigned Sept 2007) and KLM Group Limited and chairman of 
Newera Uranium Limited (resigned March 2007).

Rodney Foster BSc(Geology), MAusIMM

Non Executive Director

Mr Rodney Foster is a geologist with over 20 years experience in 
the gold sector and mining industry in Western Australia, Victoria 
and USA.  His experience includes working for Pancontinential 
Mining, Samantha Exploration, North Kalgurli Mines NL and 
Money Mining NL where he played a key role in generating 
the company’s exploration portfolio including the tenements 
covering the Granny Venn Gold Mine, which is situated within the 
boundaries of Peak’s Menzies Projects.

Mr Foster is currently an executive director of Pacrim Energy 
Limited and a non executive Latrobe Magnesium NL.

Mr Alastair M Hunter 
Non Executive Director

Mr Hunter has over 37 years experience in the management of 
resource projects in Australia, Africa and North America. He has 
played a significant role in a number of gold and base metals 
discoveries.  Mr Hunter was formerly a director of Peninsula 
Minerals NL, and a former managing director of Matlock Mining 
NL and Anglo Australian Resources NL.

Mr Hunter is responsible for providing strategic advice to 
the executive on the Group’s Tanzanian exploration projects, 
overseeing the planning and implementation of Tanzanian 
exploration programmes and coordinating the Group’s 
relationship with Zari Exploration Limited.

Retired Directors:
Mr Paul Price – 31 December 2008
Mr Kell Nielsen – 31 January 2009

Corporate Structure
Peak Resources Limited is a Company limited by shares that is 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  Peak Resources Limited 
has prepared a consolidated report incorporating an entity that 
was acquired under a reverse takeover during the 2007 financial 
year being a wholly owned subsidiary PRL Limited and Pan 
African Exploration Pty Ltd (together the “Group”).  During the 
2008 financial year the Company acquired all the issued capital 
of Pan African Exploration Limited, a company holding Tanzanian 
exploration rights.
 
Nature Of Operations And Principal Activities
The principal activity of the Group during the year was exploration 
and evaluation of mineral licences.   The principal activities of the 
Group during the year are set out in the Operations Review.

results Of Operations
The operating loss after income tax of the Group for the year 
ended 30 June 2009 was $2,497,484 (2008 $1,352,442).

The basic and diluted loss per share for the Group for the year 
was 4.09 cents (2008 loss – 2.95 cents)

No dividend has been paid during the year, or is recommended 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2009.

Significant Changes In the State Of Affairs
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the 
Group during the financial year not otherwise dealt with in this 
report and the financial statements.

Significant Events After Balance Date
There are no matters or circumstances which have arisen  
since the end of the year which have significantly affected or  
may significantly affect the operations or the state of affairs  
of the consolidated entity in the future financial years other  
than noted below:
• the Group has been advised that Metminco has withdrawn 

from the Ashburton joint venture.  As a result the Group will 
retain a 100% interest in the exploration licences and be 
solely responsible for meeting expenditure commitments; and

• the group has entered into a joint venture agreement with 
Bluestar Exploration in respect of the Menzies Gold Project.  
Under the terms of the joint venture Bluestar will be required 
to meet exploration costs associated with the project 
licences.
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Financial Position
The net assets of the Group have decreased by $2,023,105 
from 30 June 2008 to $2,709,347.  This is largely the result of 
the impairment of capitalised exploration expenditure during the 
financial year.

The Group’s working capital, being current assets less current 
liabilities, was $1,077,668 at 30 June 2009 (2008: $1,760,970).

The nature of the Group’s activities is such that it may require 
additional funding to achieve its objectives.  To date funding has 
been sourced from the issuance of securities in the Company.
Future Developments
Likely future developments in the operations of the Group are 
referred to elsewhere in the Annual Report.  Other than as referred 
to in this report, further information as to likely developments 
in the operations of the Group and expected results of those 
operations would, in the opinion of the Directors, be speculative 
and prejudicial to the interests of the Group and its shareholders.

Environmental regulation And Performance
In the course of exploration, the Group carries out sampling and 
drilling operations that have environmental implications both by 
way of in situ activities and also gaining access to sites.  In such 
cases, rehabilitation of land and the elimination of any dangerous 
earthworks are a normal requirement.  Apart from this, the Group 
is not subject to any particular or significant environmental 
regulation.

Corporate Governance
In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate 
behaviour and accountability the directors of Peak Resources 
Limited support and adhered to the principles of corporate 
governance.  The company’s corporate governance statement 
and report for the year ended 30 June 2009 is to be presented to 
the members at the Annual General Meeting.

Share Options
During the year the Company issued the following share options:

Details Granted Number
December 2010 5 cent Options 5 June 2009 9,374,706
December 2010 5 cent Options 25 May 2009 14,405,295

Other than issues in the year, the Company had on issue 
32,675,001 options exercisable at $0.25 each and expiring on 
30 September 2008.  Together with 600,000 employee options 
exercisable at $0.20 each and expiring on 31 December 2010.

Indemnification Of Auditors And Directors
During the year no insurance was effected for the directors and 
officers liability for company and related bodies corporate.  No 
indemnity was implemented in respect of auditors.

Proceedings On Behalf Of the Company
No person has applied to the court under legislation such as 
section 237 of the Corporations Act of Australia for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the company, or to intervene in any 
proceedings to which the company is a party, for the purpose 
of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or part 
of those proceedings.  No proceedings have been brought or 
intervened in on behalf of the consolidated entity with leave of the 
court under such legislation.

Non-audit Services
The current auditor has not charged the Group for non audit 
services during the year.  The Board of Directors is satisfied that 
the general standard for audit independence imposed by the 
Corporations Act 2001 has been met.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 
30 June 2009 has been received and immediately follows the 
Directors Report.

Directors Meetings 
The number of meetings attended by each Director of the Company during the financial year was:

 Board Meetings Remuneration Committee Meetings 
 Number held and entitled to attend Number attended Number held and entitled to attend Number attended

Mr P Price 4 4 - -
Mr M Maine 7 7 - -
Mr K Nielsen 4 4 - -
Mr R Foster 7 7 - -
Mr A. Hunter 7 7 - -

Note – no Audit Committee Meetings were held during the year as the function of the audit committee was dealt with by full board.
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Directors Intersts In Shares And Options 
Shares held in Peak Resources Limited
 
 Opening Jul 08 Vendor Shares  Acquired Disposed/Transf’d Balance June 09/  
     termination date

Specified Directors     

Mr Mark Maine 2,200,000 - 1,543,000 - 3,743,000 
Mr Rodney Foster 3,235,000 - 944,000 - 4,179,000 
Mr A Hunter 3,317,441 - 2,821,977 - 6,139,418 
Mr P Price 2,530,431 - - (80,430) 2,450,001
Mr K Nielsen 250,000 - - - 250,000
Mr N Money 992,708 - - (992,708) -
     
Total 12,525,580 - 5,308,977 (1,073,138) 16,761,419

Option holdings of specified directors and specified executives:
  
 Opening Jul 08 (*) Granted Remun’ Acquired (**) Net Change Other Closing Balance  
     June 09/ termination date

Specified Directors     

Mr M Maine 2,000,000 - 998,000 - 2,998,000 
Mr R Foster 1,967,500 - 944,000 - 2,911,500 
Mr A Hunter 625,000 - 1,696,977 - 2,321,977 
Mr P Price 1,515,125  100,090  1,615,215
Mr K Nielsen 807,000  -  807,000
Mr N Money 815,000  -  815,000
     
Total 7,729,625 - 3,739,067 - 11,468,692 

(*) September 2009 Options exercisable at $0.25 each at any time prior to expiry.
(**) December 10 Options exercisable at $0.05 holdings of specified directors and specified executives

Directors And Officers Emoluments

Directors Salary & Fees Superannuation Other Options Total % in Options 
 $ $ $ $ $ 

30 June 2009      

Mr. Mark Maine 147,500 - 21,600 - 169,100 0
Mr. Rodney Foster 25,000 -  - 25,000 0
Mr A Hunter  25,000 - 14,000 - 39,000 0
Mr. Paul Price (*) 18,000 - - - 18,000 0
Mr. Kell Nielsen (**) 115,728 8,857 - - 124,585 0
      
Total Remuneration: 331,228 8,857 35,600 - 375,685 0

Directors Salary & Fees Superannuation Other Options Total  % in Options 
 $ $ $ $ $ 

30 June 2008      

Mr. Paul Price  36,000 - - - 36,000 -
Mr. Mark Maine 175,000 - 11,254 - 186,254 -
Mr. Kell Nielsen 140,000 12,600 - 7,000  159,600 2
Mr. Rodney Foster 25,000 - - - 25,000 -
Mr A Hunter 2,699 - - - 2,699 -
Mr. Nick Money (***) 22,936 2,064 - - 25,000 -
      
Total Remuneration: 401,635 14,664 11,254 7,000 434,553 2

(*) Legal fees paid to Price Sierakowski Lawyers a related party to P Price total $33,189 (2008 $34,930).  Retired 31 December 2008
(**) Retired 31 January 2009
(***) Retired on 1 July 2008
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remuneration Policy
It is the Company’s objective to provide stakeholder benefit from 
the retention of a high quality board by remunerating directors 
fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant employment 
market conditions.  To assist in achieving the objective the Board 
links the nature and amount of executive directors’ emoluments 
to the Company’s financial and operating performance.  The 
expected outcome of the Company’s remuneration structure is:

• Retention and Motivation of directors and Executives;
• Performance rewards to allow Directors and Executives to 

share the rewards of success of Peak Resources Limited. 

Remuneration may include base salary & fees, short term 
incentives, superannuation contributions and share options.  Any 
equity base remuneration for Directors will only be made with 
prior approval of shareholders in general meeting.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining and 
reviewing compensation arrangements for Executive and Non-
executive Directors and makes recommendations to the Board for 
approval.  The maximum remuneration of non-executive Directors 
is the subject of shareholder approval in accordance with the 
Company’s Constitution and the Corporations Act as applicable.  
The total level of remuneration of all Non-executive Directors is 
maintained within the maximum limit approved by shareholders.  
When setting fees and other compensation for Non-executive 
Directors, the Remuneration Committee may seek independent 
advice and apply Australian benchmarks.  The Remuneration 
Committee may recommend to the Board additional remuneration 
to Non-Executive Directors called upon to perform extra services 
or make special exertions on behalf of the Company.

There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits, other than 
statutory superannuation, to Non-executive directors.

The Chairman will undertake an assessment of the performance 
of the individual directors and meet privately with each director to 
discuss this assessment.

The Company has an option based remuneration scheme for 
Directors and Executives.  In accordance with the provisions 
of the Employee Option Plan approved by shareholders at the 
general meeting, Executives and Directors, with the approval 
of shareholders, may be granted options to purchase ordinary 
shares.  The number and terms of options granted is at the 
absolute discretion of the Board, except to the extent that the 
proposed grant is to a Director.  In this instance, shareholder 
consent must be obtained.  The total number of options on issue 
under the scheme at the time of grant must not exceed 5% of the 
number of ordinary shares on issue.  

The issue of options to Directors and Executives in accordance 
with the plan is to encourage alignment of personal and 
shareholder interests. 

No options were issued under the scheme during the year.

This Report is made in accordance with a resolution of Directors.

 

Mark Maine
Executive Chairman

Perth, Western Australia
30  September 2009
 

AUDITORS INDEPENDENCE STATEMENT
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Tel: 61 8 9278 2222  |  Fax: 61 8 9278 2200  |  www.pkf.com.au 
West Australian Partnership  |  ABN 39 542 778 278 
Level 7, BGC Centre  |  28 The Esplanade  |  Perth  |  Western Australia 6000  |  Australia 
PO Box Z5066  |  St Georges Terrace  |  Perth  |  Western Australia 6831   
 
PKF Perth is a member of the PKF International Limited network of legally independent member firms. PKF Perth is also a member 
of PKF Australia Limited, a national network of legally independent firms each trading as PKF. PKF Perth does not accept 
responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions on the part of any other individual member firm or firms.  
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.            22 

 
AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  
 
 
As lead auditor for the audit of Peak Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009, I declare that to 
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 
 
(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 

to the audit; and 
 
(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
This declaration is in respect of Peak Resources Limited and the entities it controlled during the year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PKF 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Neil Smith 
Partner 
 
 
 
 
Dated at Perth, Western Australia this 30th day of September 2009. 
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PO Box Z5066  |  St Georges Terrace  |  Perth  |  Western Australia 6831   
 
PKF Perth is a member of the PKF International Limited network of legally independent member firms. PKF Perth is also a member 
of PKF Australia Limited, a national network of legally independent firms each trading as PKF. PKF Perth does not accept 
responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions on the part of any other individual member firm or firms.  
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.            22 

 
AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  
 
 
As lead auditor for the audit of Peak Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009, I declare that to 
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 
 
(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 

to the audit; and 
 
(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
This declaration is in respect of Peak Resources Limited and the entities it controlled during the year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PKF 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Neil Smith 
Partner 
 
 
 
 
Dated at Perth, Western Australia this 30th day of September 2009. 
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Income Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

Notes CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Continuing Operations

Revenue
Interest Income 59,892 115,187 59,891 115,073
Other Income 128,326 - 128,326 -

188,218 115,187 188,217 115,073

Impairment of capitalised exploration costs (2,016,431) (741,560) (1,699,717) (741,560)

Consulting expenses (221,510) (203,328) (221,510) (200,908)

Operating lease expenditure (76,732) (76,463) (76,732) (76,463)

Other expenses (316,414) (398,147) (1,364,495) (395,483)

Depreciation and amortisation (54,615) (48,131) (54,615) (48,131)

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 3 (2,497,484) (1,352,442) (3,228,851) (1,347,472)

Income tax expense/benefit 5 - -

Net profit/(loss) for the year (2,497,484) (1,352,442) (3,228,851) (1,347,472)

Loss per share (cents per share)

- basic and diluted for the year 4 (4.09) (2.95)
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Balance Sheet
AS AT 30 JUNE 2009

Note CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 1,089,197 1,974,161 1,078,023 1,958,236

Trade and other Receivables 7 93,066 41,913 409,048 182,121

Prepayments 7 569 14,713 569 14,713

Total Current Assets 1,182,832 2,030,787 1,487,640 2,155,700

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 8 135,836 163,887 135,837 163,887

Deferred exploration and evaluation costs 9 1,495,843 2,807,595 976,472 2,462,819

Other financial assets 10 - - 277,000 1,010,000

Total Non-current assets 1,631,679 2,971,482 1,389,309 3,636,706

TOTAL ASSETS 2,814,511 5,002,269 2,876,949 5,791,776

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 105,164 245,796 201,158 337,493

Provisions 12 - 24,021 - 24,021

Total Current Liabilities 105,164 269,817 201,158 361,514

TOTAL LIABILITIES 105,164 269,817 201,158 361,514

NET ASSETS 2,709,347 4,732,452 2,675,791 5,430,262

EQUITY

Issued capital 13 7,921,167 7,446,789 8,300,404 7,826,026

Accumulated losses (5,211,820) (2,714,337) (5,624,613) (2,395,764)

TOTAL EQUITY 2,709,347 4,732,452 2,675,791 5,430,262
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Cash Flow Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

Notes CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Payments to suppliers and employees (814,536) (559,537) (808,399) (551,052)

Interest Received 59,892 115,187 59,891 115,073
Receipts of management fee from Joint
Venture Partners 83,326 - 83,326 -

Net cash flows from operating activities 6 (671,318) (444,350) (665,182) (435,979)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of plant and equipment (28,344) (22,831) (28,347) (22,831)

Exploration & evaluation expenditure (659,680) (1,174,323) (166,449)
(1,095,93

2)

Loans to subsidiaries - (494,613) (75,621)

Net cash flows from investing activities (688,024) (1,197,154) (689,409)
(1,194,38

4)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of securities 535,050 1,080,000 535,050 1,080,000

Share Issue costs (60,672) (51,432) (60,672) (51,432)

Net cash flows from financing activities 474,378 1,028,568 474,378 1,028,568

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents (884,964) (612,936) (880,213) (601,795)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
period 1,974,161 2,587,096 1,958,236 2,560,030

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
period 6 1,089,197 1,974,161 1,078,023 1,958,236
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Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

Ordinary
Shares

Share
Options

Accum.
Losses Total Equity

$ $ $ $

CONSOLIDATED

At 1 July 2007 6,051,908 185,656 (1,361,895) 4,875,669

Loss for the year - - (1,352,442) (1,352,442)

Equity issued 1,080,000 - - 1,080,000

Equity based payments 170,000 10,656 - 180,656

Transaction costs (51,432) - - (51,432)

At 30 June 2008 7,250,476 196,312 (2,714,337) 4,732,452

Loss for the year - - (2,497,484) (2,497,484)

Equity issued 535,050 - - 535,050

Equity based payments - - - -

Transaction costs (60,672) - - (60,672)

At 30 June 2009 7,724,854 196,312 (5,211,820) 2,709,347

PARENT

At 1 July 2007 6,431,146 185,656 (1,048,291) 5,568,511

Loss for the year - - (1,347,473) (1,347,473)

Equity issued 1,080,000 - - 1,080,000

Equity based payments 170,000 10,656 - 180,656

Transaction costs (51,432) - - (51,432)

At 30 June 2008 7,629,714 196,312 (2,395,764) 5,430,262

Loss for the year - - (3,228,851) (3,228,851)

Equity issued 535,050 - - 535,050

Equity based payments - - - -

Transaction costs (60,672) - - (60,672)

At 30 June 2009 8,104,092 196,312 (5,624,613) 2,675,791
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION
The financial report of Peak Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009 was authorised for issue in
accordance with a resolution of the directors on 30 September 2009.

Peak Resources Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly
traded on the Australian Securities Exchange.

The nature of the operation and principal activities of the Group are described in the Directors Report –
“Nature of Operations and Principle Activities”.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Preparation
The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards (AASB’s)(including
Australian Interpretations adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB)). The financial
report of the group complies with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). This financial report has also been
prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs except where otherwise stated.

For the purpose of this report, functional and presentation currency adopted for Peak Resources Limited is
Australian Dollars.

(b) New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted
A number of adopted Accounting standards have been amended, the impacts of these amendments are
assessed to have no direct impact on amounts in the financial report. They are available for early adoption
at 30 June 2009 but have not been applied in preparing the financial report.

Title Summary Application
date

Impact

AASB 101:
Presentation
of Financial
Statements

The revised standard affects the
presentation of changes in equity and
comprehensive income. It does not change
the recognition, measurement or disclosure
of specific transactions and other events
required by other AASB standards. However,
it is important to note that the AASB has
decided that Australian issuers must make
use in financial reports of the descriptions-
Statement of Financial Performance and
Position rather than Balance Sheet and
Income Statement and use the term
"Financial Report" and not "Financial
Statement." The Amending Standard
updates references in various other
pronouncements.

Financial
year

beginning
1

st
January
2009

AASB 101 affects disclosures in
the financial report, rather than the
measurement or recognition of
financial items.

The amendments to the standards
will impact the Group’s financial
report disclosures for the financial
year ending 30 June 2010.



��

PEAK RESOURCES LIMITED – ANNUAL REPORT

18

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Title Summary Application
date

Impact

AASB 123:
Borrowing

Costs

This revision eliminates the option to
expense borrowing costs on qualifying
assets and requires that they be capitalised.
The transitional provision provided allows for
prospective application of this revision from
either application date or adoption date if
prior to 1 January 2009. The Amending
Standard eliminates reference to the
expensing option in various other
pronouncements.

Financial
year

beginning
1

st
January
2009

Amendments to the standard would
not have material impact on the
Group, as the Group is currently
not engaged in acquisition,
construction or production of a
qualifying asset noted in the
standard.

AASB 8:
Operating
Segments

This standard supersedes AASB 114,
Segment Reporting introducing a US GAAP
approach of management reporting as part
of the convergence project with FASB. This
standard only applies to entities that have
public accountability therefore any entities
that do not fall within scope may wish to
early adopt and avoid segment reporting.
The Amending Standard updates references
in various other pronouncements.

Financial
year

beginning
1

st
January
2009

AASB 8 affects disclosures of
segment reporting, rather than the
measurement or recognition of
financial items.

The amendments to the standards
will impact the Group’s financial
report disclosures for the financial
year ending 30 June 2010.

Amendments to other standards and interpretation do not have material impact on the group, as the group
does not engage in transactions covered by such amendments.

(c) Principles of consolidation

A controlled entity is any entity Peak Resources Limited has the power to control the financial and operating
policies of so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

All controlled entities have a June financial year-end.

All inter-company balances and transactions between entities in the economic entity, including any
unrealised profits or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistencies with those policies applied by the parent entity.

Where controlled entities have entered or left the economic entity during the year, their operating results
have been included / excluded from the date control was obtained or until the date control ceased.

(d) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Peak Resources Limited and its
controlled subsidiaries (‘the Group’).

Pursuant to an acquisition agreement dated 10 July 2006 Peak Resources (the “legal parent”, formerly
Acquisitor Limited) acquired all of the issued shares of PRL, by the issue of 8,400,000 ordinary shares in
Peak Resources.



�0 Peak Resources Limited
2009 Annual Report

PEAK RESOURCES LIMITED – ANNUAL REPORT

19

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

After the issue, the former shareholders of PRL controlled 43% of Peak Resources, and also all of the
directors in the “legal parent” changed as a result of the change of control. The continuing business is that
of PRL. Consequently the acquisition of PRL has been accounted for as a reverse takeover of Peak
Resources by PRL using the purchase method of accounting. The continuing financial statements for the
group include the assets, liabilities and results of PRL and the assets liabilities and results of the legal
parent, Peak Resources, from the effective date of the business combination. The consolidated results are
those of PRL and the continuing financial statements of the parent are those of the “legal parent”.

(e) Going Concern policy

The Financial Report has been prepared on a Going Concern basis. The management neither have the
intention nor foresees the need to substantially curtail the operations of the Group.

As at the reporting date, the Group holds sufficient liquid assets to meet its existing obligation, operating
expenditure, and the minimum tenement commitments over the next 12 months from the date of this report.

(f) Income tax

The charge for current income tax expenses is based on the profit for the year adjusted for any non-
assessable or disallowed items. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or are substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a
business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
liability is settled. Deferred tax is credited in the income statement except where it relates to items that may
be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantially enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Current tax liability is recognised to the extent unpaid income taxes for the current and prior periods. If the
amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the
excess is recognised as a current tax asset.

(g) Impairment of assets

At each reporting date, the group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in
use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable
amount is expensed to the income statement.

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Property, Plant & Equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value, less where applicable, any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including building and capitalised lease assets, but excluding
freehold land, is depreciated on a straight line basis over their useful lives to the economic entity
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

The following estimated useful lives are used in calculation of depreciation:

• Leasehold improvements 3 years
• Plant and equipment 2 to 5 years
• Other assets 2 to 5 years

Impairment

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes deposits at call which are readily convertible to
cash on hand and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(j) Earnings per share

a. Basic earnings per share
Basic earning per share is determined by dividing the group operating result after income tax attributable
to members by weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

b. Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figure used in the determination of basic earnings per share by
taking into account amounts paid on ordinary shares and any reduction in earnings per share that will
probably arise from the exercise of options outstanding during the financial year.

(k) Receivables

All trade and other debtors are recognised at the amounts receivable as they are due for settlement no more
than 30 days from date of recognition. Collectability of trade and other debtors are reviewed on an ongoing
basis; uncollectible debts are written off. A provision for doubtful debts is raised where some doubt as to
collection exists.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(l) Revenue

Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the
cash balance/cash held.

Management Fee
Revenue is recognised on an accruals basis upon services been provided for management services.

(m) Trade and other creditors

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the
end of the financial year and which are unpaid. These amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30
days of recognition.

(n) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except
where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO). In these
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the item of
the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash
flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are
classified as operating cash flows.

(o) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by

employees to balance date. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs. Employee
benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows to be made for those benefits.

(p) Financial Instruments

Debt and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangement.

Transaction costs on the issue of equity instruments

Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognized directly in equity as a reduction
of the proceeds of the equity instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction costs are the costs that are
incurred directly in connection with the issue of those equity instruments and which would not have been
incurred had those instruments not been issued.

Interest and dividends

Interest and dividends are classified as expenses or as distributions of profit consistent with the balance
sheet classification of the related debt or equity instruments or component parts of compound instruments.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Comparative Figures

Where appropriate, comparative figures have been adjusted to confirm to changes in presentation for the
current financial period.

n
(s) Deferred Exploration and evaluation

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of
interest.

Accumulated costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the
successful development of the area, or by its sale, or where the activities in the area have not reached a
stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves.

Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which
the decision to abandon is made. Accumulated costs are not carried forward in respect of any area of
interest unless rights to tenure of that area are current.

Impairment Assessment

Other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each
balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

n

(t) Leases

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the
ownership of the leased items, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased
property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged
directly against income.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the
lease term.

Lease where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets are
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and amortized over the lease term on the same bases as the lease
income.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually
certain. The expense relating to any provision in the income statement is net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of the money
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a
finance cost.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

3 INCOME AND EXPENSE ITEMS

Employee Benefits Expense

Wages and Salaries 410,073 316,963 410,073 316,963
Superannuation costs 16,188 23,733 16,188 23,733
Expense of share-based payments - 7,406 - 7,406

426,261 348,102 426,261 348,102

Wages and salaries include allocation of directors’ fees in 2009 and 2008. In 2009 and 2008 the company
had two operational employees and no administrative employees while in 2008 the Company had two
employees.

Management Fee

Included in the loss for the year is Management fees from Joint Union Partners

Management Fee 76,461 - 76,461 -
76,461 - 76,461 -

Gain on Sale of Tenements

Proceeds from the sale of tenements held by the Group during the year were as follows:

Sale proceeds 45,000 - 45,000
45,000 - 45,000

Included in the loss for the year are:
Impairment of investment in
subsidiaries

- - 733,000 -

Impairment in receivables from
subsidiaries

- - 316,714 -

- - 1,049,714 -
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4 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net loss for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders (after deducting interest on the convertible redeemable preference shares) by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year (adjusted for the effects of dilutive options
and dilutive partly paid contributing shares).

The following reflects the income and share data used in the total operations basic and dilutive earnings per
share computations:

CONSOLIDATED
2009 2008

$ $

Net loss attributable to equity holders from continuing operations (2,497,484) (1,352,442)
Net loss attributable to equity holders of parent (2,497,484) (1,352,442)
Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders for diluted earnings per
share (2,497,484) (1,352,442)

Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings
per share. 61,078,769 45,855,481
Effect of dilution on share options.
Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted
earnings per share. 61,078,769 45,855,481
Weighted average number of converted, lapsed or cancelled
potential ordinary shares included in diluted earnings per share. - 756,164

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares since the
reporting date and before completion of these financial statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

5 INCOME TAX

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2009

$

2008

$

2009

$

2008

$

a. The components of tax expense comprise:

Current tax - - - -

Deferred tax - - - -

- - - -

b. The prima facie tax benefit on loss from ordinary activities
before income tax is reconciled to the income tax as follows:

Prima facie tax benefit on loss from ordinary activities before
income tax at 30% (2008: 30%) (749,245) (405,733) (968,655) (404,242)

Add:

Tax effect of:

- Current year revenue losses not recognised 230,103 525,290 449,299 523,586

- Other non-allowable items 518 2,595 457 1,095

- Other deferred tax balances not recognised 457,163 - 457,376 -

- Provision against group borrowings - - 95,076 -

- Non-assessable non-exempt expenditure 111,972 3,000 16,958 3,000

- Share based payments - 3,197 - 3,197

50,511 128,349 270,410 126,636

Less:

Tax effect of:

- Exploration and evaluation expenditure deductible for
income tax purposes not recognised 50,511 106,312 270,410 106,312

- Other deferred tax balances not recognised - 22,037 - 20,324

Income tax - - - -

The applicable weighted average effective tax rates are as
follows:

0% 0% 0% 0%

c. The following deferred tax balances have not been
recognised:
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2009
$

2008
$

2009

$

2008

$

Deferred Tax Assets:

At 30%:

Carry forward revenue losses 756,914 1,522,938 754,508 1,465,253

Capital raising costs 73,191 86,625 73,191 86,625

Provisions and accruals 5,400 13,528 5,400 13,528

Other 213 426 1,500 1,500

835,718 1,623,517 834,599 1,566,906

The tax benefits of the above Deferred Tax Assets will only
be obtained if:

(a the company derives future assessable income of a
nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefits
to be utilised;

(b the company continues to comply with the conditions for

deductibility imposed by law; and

(c no changes in income tax legislation adversely affect the
company in utilising the benefits.

Deferred Tax Liabilities:

At 30%:

Exploration expenditure 309,568 755,472 292,942 738,846

Other - 725 - 725

309,568 756,197 292,942 739,571

The above Deferred Tax Liabilities have not been recognised
as they have given rise to the carry forward revenue losses
for which the Deferred Tax Asset has not been recognised.

Tax consolidation

For the purpose of income taxation, the Company and its 100% controlled Australian entities have not

elected to form a tax consolidated group.
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6 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $

Cash at bank and in hand 1,089,197 1,964,161 1,078,023 1,948,236
Short Term Deposits - 10,000 - 10,000

1,089,197 1,974,161 1,078,023 1,958,236

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating
rates based on daily bank rates.

Reconciliation of cash
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement,
cash and cash equivalents comprise as above.

Reconciliation from the net profit after tax to
the net cash flows from operations
Net Profit/(Loss) (2,497,484) (1,352,442) (3,228,851) (1,347,472)

Adjustments for:
Gain on Sale of Tenements (45,000) - (45,000) -
Depreciation 54,615 48,131 54,615 48,131
Share options expensed - 10,657 - 10,657
Plant & equip w/off 1,783 - 1,783 -
Capitalised expenditure w/off 2,016,431 744,330 1,699,717 741,560
Impairment of Financial Assets - - 1,049,714 -

Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (37,011) (3,788) (37,011) (3,786)
(Decrease)/increase in loan to associate - - - -
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (164,651) 108,762 (160,149) 108,588
Decrease (increase) in intergroup receivables - - - 6,345

Net cash from operating activities (671,318) (444,350) (665,182) (435,979)

7 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

CURRENT
Receivable – JV partner 26,043 23,857 26,043 23,857

Other 62,023 18,056 62,020 18,052
Deposit: Office Premises 5,000 - 5,000 -

93,066 41,913 93,063 41,909

Loans to subsidiaries - - 315,985 140,212
93,066 41,913 409,048 182,121

Prepayments 569 14,713 569 14,713
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and Equipment

At Cost 229,279 206,448 229,279 206,448
Additions 28,347 22,831 28,348 22,831
Disposal of Assets (1,783) - (1,783) -
Accumulated depreciation (120,007) (65,392) (120,007) (65,392)

Net of accumulated depreciation 135,836 163,887 135,837 163,887

9 DEFERRED EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION COSTS

Exploration Expenditure brought forward 2,807,595 2,207,602 2,462,819 2,108,447
Exploration Expenditure at cost 659,679 1,341,553

168,370
1,095,932

Impairment of Exploration Assets (1,971,431) (741,560) (1,654,717) (741,560)

Deferred Exploration Expenditure Carried Forward 1,495,843 2,807,595 976,472 2,462,819

The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and evaluation phases is dependent on
successful development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective exploration areas.

Deferred exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment by the directors when facts and
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the future economic benefits that may be
recovered from the asset. This assessment is performed when the above circumstances occur and at every
reporting date.

10 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Investments in subsidiaries
PRL Pty Ltd - - 840,000 840,000
Pan African Resources Ltd - - 170,000 170,000
Write down of Investments (733,000) -

- - 277,000 1,010,000

11 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CURRENT)

Trade payables 76,864 185,606 76,688 185,428
Other payables - 12,386 - 12,387

76,864 197,992 76,688 197,814
Related party payables:

Director related trade payables 4,000 6,700 4,000 6,700
Director related other payables 24,300 41,104 24,300 41,104
Payables – PRL Limited - - 96,170 91,875

105,164 245,796 201,158 337,493

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms. Other payables are non-
interest bearing and have an average term of 6 months. PRL loan is a non interest bearing loan.

The net of GST payable and GST receivable is remitted to the appropriate tax body on a quarterly basis.
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12 PROVISIONS
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $

Employee Benefits Provision - - - -
At 1 July 2008 24,021 8,353 24,021 8,353
Arising during the year 24,943 15,668 24,943 15,668
Settled during the year (48,964) - (48,964) -
At 30 June 2009 - 24,021 - 24,021

Provision relates to the leave balances accruing to
employees from contractual terms. These are
expected to be paid within the next 12 months.

13 ISSUED CAPITAL

Ordinary Shares
Issued and fully paid 7,921,166 7,446,789 8,300,404 7,826,026

CONSOLIDATED
2009 2008

No. $ No. $

Movement in ordinary shares on the issue
At 1 July 2008 59,450,002 7,446,789 43,950,002 6,237,564
Issued on 23 May 2008 for cash ($0.08) - - 7,500,000 600,000
Issued on 28 May 2008 for assets ($0.085) - - 2,000,000 170,000
Issued on 5 June 2009 for cash ($0.0225) 23,780,000 535,050 6,000,000 480,000
Equity based payment options - - - 10,656
Equity issue costs - (60,672) - (51,432)
At 30 June 2009 83,230,002 7,921,167 59,450,002 7,446,789

PARENT
2009 2008

No. $ No. $

Movement in ordinary shares on the issue
At 1 July 2008 59,450,002 7,826,026 43,950,002 6,616,802
Issued on 23 May 2008 for cash ($0.08) - - 7,500,000 600,000
Issued on 28 May 2008 for assets ($0.085) - - 2,000,000 170,000
Issued on 5 June 2009 for cash ($0.0225) 23,780,000 535,050 6,000,000 480,000
Equity based payment options - - - 10,656
Equity issue costs - (60,672) - (51,432)
At 30 June 2009 83,230,002 8,300,404 59,450,002 7,826,026

Pursuant to an agreement dated 10 July 2007 PRL has undertaken a reverse takeover of Peak Resources
Limited (formerly Acquisitor Ltd). As a result of this transaction PRL became a wholly owned subsidiary of
Peak Resources. For accounting purposes, the number of shares disclosed reflects that of the legal Parent,
Peak Resources, whilst the amounts are those of the legal subsidiary PRL.
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Share options outstanding at the end of the 2008 financial year have the following prices:

Expire Date Exercise price Number

30 September 2009 25 cents 32,675,001
31 December 2010 20 cents 600,000
31 December 2010 5 cents 23,780,000

14 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease commitments
The company has committed to an office lease of $25,000 per annum to 1 April 2011.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

0 to 1 year 25,000 42,300 25,000 42,300
1 to 5 years 18,750 17,625 18,750 17,625
Greater than 5 years - -
Total 43,750 59,925 43,750 59,925

Tenement expenditure commitments
The Group has a portfolio of tenements located in Western Australia which have a requirement for a certain
level of expenditure each and every year in addition to annual rental payments for the tenements. Additional
detail on the tenements is available in Additional Information in the Annual Report.

At 30 June 2009 annual expenditure commitments in respect of exploration assets amounted to $291,266
(2008 $523,992). These mineral commitments are subject to provisions of legislation governing the granting
of mineral exploration licences. Commitments may be varied in accordance with the provisions of governing
regulations or obligations may be farmed out under agreements with third parties.

Otherwise, since the last annual report date, there has been no material change to any contingent liabilities
or contingent asset.

Capital commitments
At 30 June 2009 the Group had no capital commitments. At the 30 June 2009 the Group had no
commitments under farm in agreements. Minimum expenditure commitments under farm-in agreement in
2008 totalled: $250,000 in relation to its interest in the joint venture operations of which $234,984 had been
expended to 30 June 2008. Under management agreements in respect of Tanzanian exploration assets
there is a minimum annual committed expenditure of $218,181.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Capital Commitments - - - -
Exploration expenditure commitments - 250,000 - 250,000
Committed expenditure incurred - 234,984 - 234,984
Exploration expenditure commitment outstanding - 15,016 - 15,016

Guarantees
Peak Resources Limited has the following contingent liabilities at 30 June 2009:
Bonds in respect of leased premises $5,000(2008 $10,000).
Peak Resources Ltd has provided a guarantee for financial support of subsidiaries Pan African Resources
Ltd and PRL Pty Ltd.
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15 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Employees share option plan

The Group has an employee share options plan (ESOP) for the granting of non-transferable options to
certain directors and senior executives. A total of 0 (2008: 100,000) options have been granted pursuant to
the ESOP prior to or during the year.

The outstanding balance as at 30 June 2009 is represented by:
• 2,950,000 options over ordinary shares with an exercise price of $0.25 each, exercisable upon meeting

the above conditions and until 30 Sept 2009;
• 600,000 options over ordinary shares with an exercise price of $0.20 each, exercisable upon meeting

the above conditions and until 31 December 2010.

16 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments are cash and short term deposits. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
instruments such as trade debtors and trade creditors which arise directly from its operations. It is, and has
been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be
undertaken.

The Group manages the risks associated with the Financial Instruments at the Group level alone, rather
than at the Parent entity’s level. Therefore the disclosure in this Note and Note 17 relate to the Group entity
alone.

The Parent Entity does not consider the receivables from the subsidiaries as a risk.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit
risk. The Board reviews and agreed policies for management of each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Weighted
Average

Interest Rate

Floating
Interest Rate

Non Interest
Bearing

Total

$ $ $
CONSOLIDATED Note
2009
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 3% 1,089,197 - 1,089,197

1,089,197 - 1,089,197
2008
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 5.98% 1,974,161 - 1,974,161

1,974,161
-

1,974,161
PARENT Note
2009
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 3% 1,078,023 - 1,078,023

1,078,023 - 1,078,023
2008
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 5.98% 1,958,236 - 1,958,236

1,958,236 1,958,236
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Foreign currency risk
The Group’s exposure to price risk is minimal at this stage of the operations. The Group will transfer cash
and cash equivalents into foreign currency to meet short term expenditure obligations.
The Group’s expenditure obligations in Tanzania are in US dollars as a result the Group is exposed to
fluctuations in the US dollar to Australian currency. These exposures are not subject to a hedging
programme. The board and management from time to time having regard to likely forward commitments
review this policy.

Commodity price risk
The Group’s exposure to price risk is minimal at this stage of the operations.

Credit Risk
Credit risk represents the risk that counterparty will fail to perform contractual obligations under a contract.
The Group’s credit risk arises from the GST refunds due and a receivable from a Joint Venture Partner. The
Group’s maximum credit risk exposure at the balance date in relation to the receivable is the carrying
amount of those assets as indicated in the Balance Sheet.

The management does not consider the GST refunds receivable as a credit risk considering that the
amount is receivable from the Australian Commonwealth.

There are significant concentrations of credit risks within the Group.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk the Group will not be able to meet its financial liabilities as and when they fall due.
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk on account of trade and other payables.

Liquidity risk is constantly monitored to ensure that cleared funds are always available to meet financial
liabilities.

The Group’s trading terms with suppliers generally grant 30 days’ credit from the invoice date.

Maturity Analysis: CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2009 2008 2009 2008
< 3 months < 3 months < 3 months < 3 months

Trade & other payables $105,164 $245,796 $201,158 $337,493

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that fair values and cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will be
affected by changes in the market interest rates.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are impacted by interest rate risks. Other receivables and payables
have short maturities and are non-interest bearing. Management believes that the risk of interest rate
movement would not have a material impact of the Group’s operations.

Management does not closely monitor the interest rates offered on cash & cash equivalents as the Group’s
primary objective is exploration of resources rather than earning interest income. The cash balances are
invested at the prevailing short term market interest rates with credit worthy financial institutions.
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Sensitivity of the Group’s financial instruments to changes in market interest rates:
A 1% movement in the market interest rates would have the following impact on the Group’s financial
performance and equity positions.

2009 2008
+1% -1% +1% -1%

$ $ $ $
Cash and cash equivalents 10,892 10,892 19,742 (19,742)

The Group anticipates that it may need to raise additional capital in the next 12 months to meet forecasted
operational activities. The decision on how the Group will raise future capital will depend on market
conditions existing at that time.

The Group’s and the parent entity’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to
continue as a going concern, so that they may continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders.

As common with other exploration entities, the Group relies entirely on funds raised through the issue
of equity to sustain the operating and exploration cash requirements.

The focus of the Group’s capital risk management is the current working capital position against the
requirements of the Group to meet corporate overheads. The Group’s strategy is to ensure
appropriate liquidity is maintained to meet anticipated operating requirements, with a view to initiating
appropriate capital raisings as required. The working capital position of the Group and the parent
entity at 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2008 are as follows:

Consolidated Parent

2009

$

2008

$

2009

$

2008

$

Cash and cash equivalents 1,089,197 1,974,161 1,078,023 1,958,236

Trade and other receivables 93,066 41,913 409,048 182,121

Trade and other payables (105,164) (245,796) (201,158) (337,493)

Working capital position 1,077,099 1,770,268 1,285,913 1,802,864
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17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair values
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all the Group’s financial
instruments that are carried in the financial statements at other than fair values.

Carrying amount Fair value
2009

$
2008 2009 2008

CONSOLIDATED Notes
Financial assets
Cash – floating rate interest 6 1,089,197 1,974,161 1,089,197 1,974,161

Trade receivables – current 7 93,066 41,913 93,066 41,913

Trade receivables – non-
current, non interest bearing - - - -

Total financial assets 1,182,263 2,016,074 1,182,263 2,016,074

Financial liabilities
Trade payables – non interest
bearing 11 (105,164) (245,796) (105,164) (245,796)

Total payables (105,164) (245,796) (105,164) (245,796)

Net financial assets 1,077,099 1,770,278 1,077,099 1,770,278

Carrying amount Fair value
2009

$
2008 2009 2008

PARENT Notes
Financial assets
Cash – floating
rate interest

6 1,078,023 1,958,236 1,078,023 1,958,236

Trade
receivables –
current

7 93,063 41,909 93,063 41,909

Total financial
assets

1,171,086 2,000,145 1,171,086 2,000,145

Financial
liabilities

Trade payables –
non interest
bearing

11 (201,158) (337,493) (201,158) (337,493)

Total payables (201,158) (337,493) (201,158) (337,493)

Net financial
assets

969,928 1,662,652 969,928 1,662.652
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18 CONTROLLED ENTITIES

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Peak Resources Limited and the
subsidiaries listed in the following table.

% Equity interest Investment ($)Country of
incorporation 2009 2008 2009 2008

Parent Entity

Peak Resources Limited Australia -

Controlled Entities
Pan African Resources Ltd Australia 100% 100% 170,000 170,000
PRL Limited Australia 100% 100% 840,000 840,000
Peak Hill Gold Mines NL Australia 100% 100% 100,000 100,000
Redpalm Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% - -

The following table provides the total amount of transactions which have been entered into with related
parties for the relevant financial year (for information regarding outstanding balances at year-end, refer to
note 10 and note 19):

19 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE

a. Transactions with related parties in wholly owned group
The parent entity provided interest free loan funds totalling $64,951 at 30 June 2009 (2008 $64,591) to its
controlled entity, PRL Limited $568,108 at 30 June 2009 (2008 $75,621) to its controlled entity, Pan African
Resources Ltd and $205 at 30 June 2009 (2008 $0) to its controlled entity, Redpalm Pty Ltd. PRL provided
interest free loan funds totalling $96,170 to its parent entity Peak Resources Limited.

b. Controlling entities
The ultimate “legal parent” entity in the wholly owned group is PRL Limited.

c Transactions with other related parties
Fees paid to director related entities for services provided have been set out in Note 22.

20 AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
CONSOLIDATED PARENT
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Amounts received or due and receivable by PKF
Australia for:

• an audit or review of the financial report of the
entity and any other entity in the consolidated
entity 32,123 34,561 32,123 34,561

• other services in relation to the entity and any
other entity in the consolidated entity

(a) tax compliance - -
(b) assurance related - -
(c) special audits required by regulators - -

32,123 34,561 32,123 34,561

Amounts received or due and receivable by
auditors other than PKF Australia for:

• an audit or review of the financial report of
subsidiary entities -

32,123 34,561 32,123 34,561
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21 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There are no matters or circumstances which have arisen since the end of the year which have significantly
affected or may significantly affect the operations or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in the future
financial years other than noted below:

• the Group has been advised that Metminco has withdrawn from the Ashburton joint venture. As a
result the Group will retain a 100% interest in the exploration licences and be solely responsible for
meeting expenditure commitments; and

• the group has entered into a joint venture agreement with Bluestar Exploration in respect of the
Menzies Gold Project. Under the terms of the joint venture Bluestar will be required to meet
exploration costs associated with the project licences.

22 DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES

(a) Details of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

(i)Specified directors
Current

Mr Mark Maine Director (executive)
Mr. Rodney Foster Director (non-executive)
Mr Alastair Hunter Director (non-executive)
Retired
Mr. Nick Money Director (non-executive)
Mr Paul Price Chairman (non executive)
Mr Kell Nielsen Director (executive)

(ii)Specified executives
There are no Specified Executives. Mr M Maine and Mr Kell Nielsen may be classified as specified
executives are included as specified directors.

(b) Remuneration of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

(i) Remuneration Policy
It is the Company’s objective to provide stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality board by
remunerating directors fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant employment market conditions. To
assist in achieving the objective the Board links the nature and amount of executive directors’ emoluments
to the Company’s financial and operating performance. The expected outcome of the Company’s
remuneration structure is:

• Retention and Motivation of directors and Executives;
• Performance rewards to allow Directors and Executives to share the rewards of success of Peak

Resources Limited.

Remuneration may include base salary & fees, short term incentives, superannuation contributions and
share options. Any equity base remuneration for Directors will only be made with prior approval of
shareholders in general meeting.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for
Executive and Non-executive Directors and makes recommendations to the Board for approval. The
maximum remuneration of non-executive Directors is the subject of shareholder approval in accordance with
the Company’s Constitution and the Corporations Act as applicable. The total level of remuneration of all
Non-executive Directors is maintained within the maximum limit approved by shareholders. When setting
fees and other compensation for Non-executive Directors, the Remuneration Committee may seek
independent advice and apply Australian benchmarks. The Remuneration Committee may recommend to
the Board additional remuneration to Non-Executive Directors called upon to perform extra services or make
special exertions on behalf of the Company.



�� Peak Resources Limited
2009 Annual Report

PEAK RESOURCES LIMITED – ANNUAL REPORT

37

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits, other than statutory superannuation, to Non-executive
directors.

The Chairman will undertake an assessment of the performance of the individual directors and meet
privately with each director to discuss this assessment.

The Company has an option based remuneration scheme for Directors and Executives. In accordance with
the provisions of the Employee Option Plan approved by shareholders at the general meeting, Executives
and Directors, with the approval of shareholders, may be granted options to purchase ordinary shares. The
number and terms of options granted is at the absolute discretion of the Board, except to the extent that the
proposed grant is to a Director. In this instance, shareholder consent must be obtained. The total number
of options on issue under the scheme at the time of grant must not exceed 5% of the number of ordinary
shares on issue.

The issue of options to Directors and Executives in accordance with the plan is to encourage alignment of
personal and shareholder interests.

No options were issued under the scheme during the year.

Managing Director’s Contract
Mr Mark Maine is engaged under a consultancy agreement between the Company, Mr Maine and RM
Corporate Pty Ltd (RM Corporate). The contract is for three years commencing on 29 November 2006. The
contract with RM Corporate may be terminated by the Company with cause by giving one month’s notice
and payment of any applicable statutory termination benefits. In the event of termination without cause, one
months notice is required and a termination payment in accordance with the statutory formula which is
provided under section 200G(3) of the Corporations Act.

The contract may be terminated by RM Corporate with the provision of three months written notice to the
Company.
(ii)Remuneration of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

Mr Maine and Mr Nielsen are listed as Specified Directors are also considered Specified Executives

Directors
Salary &

Fees
Superann

uation Other Options Total
% in

Options

$ $ $ $ $

30 June 2009
Mr Paul Price (*) 18,000 - - - 18,000 -
Mr Mark Maine 147,500 - 21,600 - 169,100 -
Mr Kell Nielsen (**) 115,728 8,857 - - 124,585 -

Mr Rodney Foster 25,000 - - - 25,000 -
Mr Alastair Hunter 25,000 - 14,000 - 39,000 -

Total Remuneration 331,228 8,857 35,600 - 375,685 -

30 June 2008
Mr Paul Price 36,000 - - - 36,000 -
Mr Mark Maine 175,000 11,254 - 186,254 -
Mr Kell Nielsen 140,000 12,600 - 7,000 159,600 4
Mr Rodney Foster 25,000 - - - 25,000 -
Mr Alastair Hunter 2,699 - - - 2,699 -
Mr Nick Money (***) 22,936 2,064 - - 25,000 -

Total Remuneration 401,635 14,664 11,254 7,000 434,553 2

(*) Legal fees paid to Price Sierakowski Lawyers a related party to P Price total $33,189 (2008 $34,930).
Retired 31 December 2008.

(**) Retired 31 January 2009
(***) Retired on 1 July 2008
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Remuneration options: Granted and vested during the year

During the financial year no options were granted as equity compensation benefits under the employee
share option plan (ESOP). The options granted to Directors during the prior period were granted pursuant to
a shareholder resolution and were issued free of charge.

Opening
Jul 08 (*)

Granted
Remun’

Acquired (**) Net
Change
Other

Closing
Balance
June 09/

termination
date

Specified Directors

Mr M Maine 2,000,000 - 998,000 - 2,998,000
Mr R Foster 1,967,500 - 944,000 - 2,911,500
Mr A Hunter 625,000 - 1,696,977 - 2,321,977
Mr P Price 1,515,125 - 100,090 - 1,615,215
Mr K Nielsen 807,000 - - - 807,000
Mr N Money 815,000 - - - 815,000

Total 7,729,625 - 3,739,067 - 11,468,692

(*) September ’09 Options exercisable at $0.25 holdings of specified directors and specified executives
(**) December 10 Options exercisable at $0.05 holdings of specified directors and specified executives

Shareholdings of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

Opening
Jul 08

Vendor
Shares

Acquired Disposed/
Transf’d

Balance
June 09/

termination
date

Specified Directors
Mr Mark Maine 2,200,000 - 1,543,000 - 3,743,000
Mr Rodney Foster 3,235,000 - 944,000 - 4,179,000
Mr A Hunter 3,317,441 - 2,821,977 - 6,139,418
Mr P Price 2,530,431 - - 80,430 2,450,001
Mr K Nielsen 250,000 - - - 250,000
Mr N Money 992,708 - - 992,708 -

Total 12,525,580 - ,5,308,977 (1,073,138) 16,761,419

All equity transactions with specified directors and specified executives other than those arising from the
exercise of remuneration options have been entered into under terms and conditions no more favourable
than those the entity would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length.

Loans to specified directors and specified executives
There are no loans to Specified Directors

Outstanding balances arising from Directors fees at balance date are $22,500.

Outstanding balances arising from Consulting and other fees at balance date are $5,800.
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Directors’ Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Peak Resources Limited, I state that:

In the opinion of the directors:

(a) the financial statements and notes of the company and of the consolidated entity are in accordance with
the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company's and consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June
2009 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001;

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable;

(c) The Financial Report also complies with the International Financial Reporting Standard as disclosed in
Note 2

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in
accordance with sections 259A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial period ending 30 June 2009.

On behalf of the Board

Mark Maine
Executive Chairman

Perth, Western Australia
30

th
of September 2009
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
TO THE MEMBERS OF PEAK RESOURCES LIMITED 
 
 
Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Peak Resources Limited, which comprises the 
balance sheet as at 30 June 2009, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash 
flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration for both Peak Resources Limited and of the consolidated 
entity. The consolidated entity comprises Peak Resources Limited and the entities it controlled at the 
year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report  

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining 
internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 2(a), the 
directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements, that compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial report, 
comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.  
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51 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001.  

 
Auditor’s Opinion  
 
In our opinion:  
 
(a) the financial report of Peak Resources Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including:  
 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the entity’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 
30 June 2009 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and  

 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 

Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and  
 
(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 

Note 2(a). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PKF 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Neil Smith 
Partner 
 
 
 
 
Dated at Perth, Western Australia this 30th day of September 2009 
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ASX Additional Unaudited Information
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

Additional information required by Australian Securities Exchange Limited and not shown elsewhere in this
Annual Report. The information is made up to 28th of September 2009.

DISTRIBUTION OF ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS AND OPTIONHOLDERS

Fully Paid
Ordinary Shares

Dec 2010 Options
($0.05)

No. of
Holders

No. of Shares No. of
Holders

No. of
Options

1 – 1,000 5 812 0 0
1.001 – 5,000 71 320,996 23 69,295
5,001 – 10,000 55 482,204 19 143,447
10,000 – 100,000 424 14,686,579 50 1,902,601
100,001 and over 117 67,739,411 45 21,664,657

672 83,230,002 137 23,780,000

Holders of Non-marketable Parcels

There are 96 fully paid ordinary shareholders who hold less than a marketable parcel of shares.
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
The names of the twenty largest holders of ordinary shares are:

Ordinary Shares
Number of

Shares Held
% Held

1 ANZ Nominees Limited 6,013,962 7.23
2 Minico Pty Ltd 3,304,000 3.97
3 Wisevest Pty Ltd 3,913,040 3.84
4 Forth- Clyde Investments Pty Ltd 2,800,000 3.36
5 Hannan’s Finance Pty Ltd 2,500,000 3.00
6 Lost Ark Nominees Pty Ltd <ONM BPSF A/C> 2,450,000 2.94
7 Lost Ark Nominees Pty Ltd <SAG A/C> 2,189,000 2.63
8 Trident Capital Pty Ltd 1,750,001 2.10
9 S Jessop 1,456,616 1.75
10 RM Corporate Pty Ltd 1,400,000 1.68
11 C and M Fisher 1,388,889 1.67
12 Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Ltd 1,225,000 1.47
13 Lost Ark Nominees Pty Ltd <MYA UNIT A/C> 1,225,000 1.47
14 M Maine 1,225,000 1.47
15 T Campion 1,100,000 1.32
16 Scottish Caledonian Pty Ltd 1,078,000 1.30
17 Buell Pty Ltd 1,078,000 1.30
18 Villasor Holdings Pty Ltd 1,000,000 1.20
19 C Wang 1,000,000 1.20
20 M Bolton 915,000 1.10

38,291,508 46.01

Ordinary Shares quoted on ASX 83,230,002

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
There are no shareholders are recorded in the Company’s Register of Substantial Shareholders:

VOTING RIGHTS
Ordinary Shares – on a show of hands, every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote and,
upon poll, each share shall have one vote.

FRANKING CREDITS
The Company has nil franking credits.
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TWENTY LARGEST OPTIONHOLDERS
The names of the twenty largest holders of $0.05 December 2010 Options are:

Number of
Options Held

% Held

1 Wisevest Pty Ltd 3,943,040 16.58
2 Mr Stephen Thomas Jessop 2,012,525 8.46
3 Mr Christopher Robin Fisher & Mrs Mavis Kathleen Fisher 1,088,889 4.58
4 Villasor Holdings Pty Ltd 1,000,000 4.21
7 Anz Nominees Limited 1,000,000 4.21
4 Minico Pty Limited 944,000 3.97
5 Forth-Clyde Investments Pty Ltd 800,000 3.36
6 Hannan's Finance Pty Ltd 745,792 3.14
8 Lost Ark Nominees Pty Limited 700,000 2.94
10 Mr Timothy David Rowan Powditch 650,000 2.73
11 Dead Knick Pty Ltd 500,000 2.10
12 Lost Ark Nominees Pty Limited 500,000 2.10
13 Bill Brooks Pty Ltd 444,444 1.87
14 RM Corporate Pty Ltd 400,000 1.68
15 Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited 350,000 1.47
16 Lost Ark Nominees Pty Limited 350,000 1.47
17 Mr Mark Maine 350,000 1.47
18 Peplon Nominees Pty Ltd 325,974 1.37
19 Scottish Caledonian Pty Ltd 308,000 1.30
20 Buell Pty Ltd 308,000 1.30

16,720,664 70.31

Options quoted on ASX 23,780,000
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COrPOrAtE GOVErNANCE StAtEMENt
Peak Resources is committed to implementing the highest practical standards of corporate governance and business ethics. The 
Company advises that its practices are broadly consistent with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance and Best Practice Recommendations.
The overriding objective of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is to maintain and increase shareholder value 
in the Company within an appropriate framework that protects the rights and interests of shareholders and ensures the Company and 
its controlled entities are properly managed. This objective is supported by an organisation-wide commitment to the highest standards 
of legislative compliance and financial and ethical behaviour.
A summary of how the Company complies with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles of Good Corporate Governance 
and Best Practice Recommendations is included below. The various charters and policies are all available on the Peak Resources web 
site: www.peakresources.com.au.

Unless disclosed below, all the best practice recommendations of the ASX Corporate Governance Council have been applied for the 
entire financial year ended 30 June 2009.

Board of directors
The board is responsible for all matters relating to the policies, practices, management, operations and objectives of the Company.  
This generally includes the following:
• To set the policies and strategic direction of the Company
• To monitor the performance of the Company, the board and management
• To approve strategic commitments, work programs and budgets
• To report to shareholders
• To take responsibility for corporate governance

Board performance review
The board does not perform a formal evaluation of its performance.  A review is done informally on an ongoing basis.

Composition of the board
The maximum number of directors is eight. It has been the policy and practice of the Company to have a mix of executive and non-
executive directors.  This recognises that the Company is lean enough to rely on a core of executive staff, but requires the frequent input 
at board level of people possessing professional skills and experience, both in exploration and in other business-related disciplines.  
The Company supports the policy that the Chairman should be a non-executive director. The Executive Chairman, Mr M Maine, was 
appointed following the resignation of non executive chairman Mr Price in December 2008.  Having regard to the current scope of the 
Company’s activities the Board considers the existing structure appropriate for the Company’s operations.  The Board will seek to 
appoint an independent chairperson upon the circumstances of the Company changing as determined by the Board of Directors, such 
that the interests of the Company and shareholders will better served by the appointment of an independent chairman

Criteria for board membership
The criteria for board membership are solely that a candidate should bring to the board the skills and integrity required for the conduct 
of a public-listed exploration Company.  The board is of the firm belief that this policy has been implemented and practised. The 
composition of the board has changed in line with the circumstances and requirements of the Company while maintaining a cross-
section of skills reflects those ideal for a listed explorer.  There are no particular restrictions on the nomination of directors; a board 
member may nominate a person considered appropriate, or a candidate may be nominated by shareholders under the conditions and 
procedures for nomination of directors as set down in the constitution, the Corporations Act of Australia.

Share transactions by directors
There are no formal restrictions set down on the circumstances and times when directors may buy or sell shares in the Company.  
However, directors are made aware on relevant occasions that information they possess, e.g. on drilling progress, has not been 
released to the market and may well be price-sensitive.

Audit committee responsibilities
1. To ensure that accounting records are maintained in accordance with statutory requirements.
2. To liaise with the Company’s auditors to ensure that financial information furnished to shareholders, the Australian Stock Exchange, 

statutory authorities and other interested parties is timely and reliable.

remuneration committee responsibilities
1. To establish the remuneration, conditions and responsibilities of the chief executive.
2. To take relevant advice from external consultants if necessary and review on a regular basis, and at least once annually, 

the remuneration of executive staff and to make recommendations on remuneration for non-executive directors and on the 
apportionment of directors’ fees.
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Independent advice
A director is free to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense concerning any aspect of his duties about which 
he feels obliged. There have been no instances of this recently.

General risk management
The Company conducts a regular annual review of its insurance requirements, coupled with implementation of insurance from time to 
time to cover specific projects or specific locations.

Where the Company is not the operator for a project, insurance is put in place by the relevant operator as a component of the 
consortium’s project costs and is included in budgets reviewed and approved by the consortium members.

Financial risk
The Company is exposed to exchange rate fluctuations in assets, exploration outlays and revenue. It has, however, limited ability to 
mitigate this risk. In contributing to exploration expenditure, for example, the timing of payments is often varied at short notice, which 
makes hedging difficult and probably not cost-effective. The risk is therefore minimised as much as possible by assessment by 
executive management of the avenues available in specific cases.

Shareholder communication
The board aims to ensure that shareholders and investors have equal access to the Company’s information.  The Company has 
policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rules.  This disclosure policy includes identification and 
recognition of matters which may have a material effect on the price of the Company’s shares and notifying them to ASX.  The 
Company also has in place a strategy to disseminate information to shareholders and encourage effective participation at shareholder 
meetings, as well as to communicate material to regulatory authorities and the broader community.

review of corporate governance
The board has reviewed its current practices in light of the ASX Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Guidelines, 
with a view to making amendments where applicable, after taking into account the Company’s size and the resources it has available.  
As the Company’s activities develop, further consideration will be given to increasing the size of the board and the implementation of 
additional governance committees.

The table below identifies the ASX Best Practice Recommendations and whether or not the Company has complied with the 
recommendations during the reporting period.

NoTe

 1. Formalise and disclose the functions reserved to the board and those delegated to management Y 
 1.2 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of directors Y 

 1.3 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 1 Y 

 2.1 A majority of the board should be independent directors N 1

 2.2 The chairperson should be an independent director N 2

 2.3 The roles of chairperson and chief executive officer should not be exercised by the same person N 3

 2.4 The board should establish a nomination committee N 4

 2.5 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its committees and individual directors Y 

 2.6 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 2 Y 

 3.1 Establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the code as to:

 3.1.1 The practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity

 3.1.2    The practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the reasonable  
 expectations of their stakeholders

 3.1.3 The responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices Y 

 3.2 Establish and disclose a policy concerning trading in Company securities by directors, officers and employees Y 

 3.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on principle 3 Y 

 4.1 The board should establish an audit committee Y 5

 4.2 Structure the audit committee so that it consists of:

 • only non-executive directors

 • a majority of independent directors

 • an independent chairperson, who is not chairperson of the board

 • at least three members N 5
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NoTe

 4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter Y

 4.4 Provide  the information indicated in Guide to reporting on principle 4 Y

 5.1  Establish written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements  
and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance and disclose those policies  
or a summary of those policies Y

 5.2 Provide  the information indicated in Guide to reporting on principle 5 Y 

 6.1  Design and disclose a communications policy for promoting effective communication with shareholders  
and encouraging their participation at general meetings Y 

 6.2 Provide  the information indicated in Guide to reporting on principle 6 Y 

 7.1 Establish and disclose policies for the oversight and management of material business risks  Y 

 7.2  The board should require management to design and implement the risk management and internal control  
system to manage the Company’s material business risks and report to it on whether those risks are being  
managed effectively. The board should disclose that management has reported to it as to the effectiveness  
of the companies management of its material business risks Y 

 7.3  The board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the chief executive officer (or equivalent)  
and the chief financial officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of  
the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system  
is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. Y 6

 7.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on principle 7 Y 

 8.1 The board should establish a remuneration committee. Y 7

 8.2  Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration from that of executive directors  
and senior executives. Y 

 8.3 Provide  the information indicated in Guide to reporting on principle 8 Y 

Notes:
1.  Following a Board restructure undertaken in conjunction with cost restructure programme the composition of the Peak Resources Board changed such that it did not comply with practices 

recommended as a majority of the directors while Non-Executive Directors do not comply with the definition of “independent”.  Directors are appointed on the specific skills required by 
the Company and on the independence of their decision-making and judgment.  The current Board comprising two Non-Executive Directors and one Executive Director and is considered 
appropriate for the size and nature of the Company’s current operations.  

2.  The Executive Chairman, Mr M Maine, was appointed following the resignation of Mr Price in December 2008.  Mr Maine will continue as Chairman until the Board determine otherwise.  
Having regard to the current scope and nature of the Company’s activities the Board consider the existing structure appropriate for the Company’s operations.  The Board will seek to appoint 
an independent chairperson upon the circumstances of the Company changing such that the interests of the Company as a whole are better served by the appointment of an independent 
chairman

3.  The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent) are currently held by the same person.  Close consultation with non executive directors provides overview of chief 
executive role and function.

4.  The role of the nomination committee, has for the current time, been assumed by the full board as the current nature of the Company does not justify the establishment of a separate 
committee.

5.  The Company has established an Audit Committee however at this time as there are only two non executive and one executive director the functions that would be reserved for an audit 
committee are presently addressed by the full board.  The executive director will be excluded from proceedings when deemed appropriate by non executive directors.  The board currently 
has insufficient members to allow the flexibility to fully comply with the Best Practice Guidelines.

6. While the executive assess analyses and reports to the Board on risk the Board is yet to establish a formal risk management and reporting policy.

7.  The Board has in place a Remuneration Committee who’s functions are currently dealt with by the Board as a whole.   This Committee is responsible for setting the terms and conditions of 
employment for the chief executive officer. The Committee reviews and makes recommendations to the Board on the Company’s incentive schemes and superannuation arrangements.
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